#### STATEMENT OF CASE

This cause is one of eight consumer class actions presently pending in several Florida circuit courts. The instant cause arises from Broward County. The hospital defendant applied to the Circuit Court for an order dismissing the case for lack of subject matter jurisdiction. The basis for the motion was that the monetary amounts of the individual claims of the class representatives and the vast majority of the class members did not meet the jurisdictional threshold of the Circuit Court and could not be aggregated (Jur. Br. App. 2). The trial court, The Honorable Leonard L. Stafford, denied the defendant's motion (Jur. Br. App. 6).

Upon defendant's application to the Court of Appeal, Fourth District, that Court, treating the application for a Writ of Certiorari as a Writ of Prohibition, granted the hospital the jurisdictional relief it sought in an opinion and decision dated July 14, 1993 (Jur. Br. App. 12) and reported at 621 So.2d 551 (4th DCA, Fla. 1993).

Discretionary review application was made to this Court by the plaintiffs and class on August 10, 1993 for review of the decision of the Fourth District which held that the Circuit Court was without subject matter jurisdiction because the claims of the individual class representatives did not meet the Court's monetary jurisdictional threshold.

b-johnsn\plantatn\pleading\merits.brf

Mandate was issued by the Fourth District on September 20, 1993 assigning the case below to the County Court of Broward County. This Court accepted this action for review by its order of December 15, 1993.

Pursuant to the Clerk's letter and instructions to counsel of December 15, 1993, this Court was advised of a similar pending action in which the same issue as exists in the instant cause was decided by the Court of Appeal for the Fifth District in exactly an opposite manner in philosophy and result as that of the Fourth District's opinion accepted for review by this Court.<sup>1</sup> Application to this Court for Discretionary Review of the Fifth District Opinion has been made by all parties to that action.

1

Ansell Arscott, et al. v. Galen of Florida, d/b/a Humana Hospital Daytona Beach, 5th DCA #93-79, December 3, 1993.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The underlying claim for relief in this action is that the plaintiffs and class of approximately 50,000 patients have been the victims of a plan by the defendant hospital to engage in a uniform method of overcharging them for specific categories of goods and services. The operative complaint alleges that an identical and uniform type of overcharging system has been imposed on all class members by the defendant hospital. (Jur. Br. App. 1) The complaint seeks certification of the class so that the class claims may be presented to a jury and a judgment for the class in an amount contemplated to be in the tens of millions of dollars obtained on those claims on behalf of the class.<sup>2</sup>

The complaint defines the class essentially as those patients who pay or are obligated to pay their hospital bill based on the total undiscounted amount of their bill. Excluded from the class are patients who benefit from discounts afforded to third party payers such as insurance companies or government programs. The overcharges alleged limited are to medical supplies, pharmaceuticals and laboratory services. These are either items that the hospital purchases from a vendor at a bulk-or wholesaleprices and resells to the patient at the price shown on the

In each of two similar class actions now pending, the class was certified by the trial court and affirmed on appeal: Galen of Florida, Inc., d/b/a Humana Hospital Daytona Beach v. Arscott, 5th DCA #93-79 and Galencare, Inc., f/k/a Humhosco, d/b/a Humana Hospital Brandon v. Dale Daniel, etc., 2nd DCA #93-02409.

hospital bill or services for which the hospital's cost is an ascertainable sum, for which the hospital then charges the patient a higher than reasonable amount.

The legal theory upon which the class action is premised is that the unarticulated terms of admission to the hospital relating to what will be imposed on the patient places a legal duty on the hospital to be reasonable. The hospital's opportunity to impose these excessive charges and the method of doing so, based upon the relative bargaining positions of the parties, clearly places this situation within the doctrine of "imposition" long ago enunciated by this Court in *Southern States Power Co. v. Ivey*, 118 Fla. 756, 160 So. 46 (1935).

> Where a person taking advantage of his position, or the circumstances in which another is placed, exacts a greater price for services rendered than is fair and reasonable, where such a compensation only is allowable, the exaction of the unreasonable price for the service rendered may be said to be an imposition. such an imposition would . . . support an action of assumpsit for money received. . . .

Southern States at 47.<sup>3</sup>

Though assaulted in those pending cases where the classes have been certified, the trial courts have rejected legal arguments challenging the class' theory of action based upon the doctrine of imposition.

<sup>3</sup> 

This Court has never receded from the imposition doctrine announced in *Southern States Power*.

The instant review by this Court, however, is limited to the jurisdictional threshold issue as framed above and in the brief on jurisdiction earlier filed.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The instant case, like class actions generally, provides a solution to a problem that would otherwise force the legal system into either futility or contradiction. The whole idea of the class action is that the legal system aspires to treat all similarly situated persons alike. If the offending hospital systematically has treated this group of 50,000 patients unlawfully, it is appropriate that it be required to "mend its ways" as to all.

Typical of today's class actions, the instant case would not exist at all without the aggregation of the class members' claims and a judicial recognition that it is *the class* which asserts the claim, not each of 50,000 former patients individually. The idea of the class action is the collective treatment of the 50,000 grievances of these patients as a single wrong -- and not the treatment of multiple wrongs individually. Because aggregating the individuals' claims into a single claim may change the lawsuit for overcharging a single patient \$100 into a much greater risk for overcharging all patients \$100 each on their collective bills over five years, a powerful incentive is created for the defendant to refrain from just the sort of business conduct alleged in the instant complaint. Public policy supports this incentive and its application here.<sup>4</sup>

4

A class suit may be seen as a mass production remedy for mass production wrongs. Geoffrey C. Hazard, the Effect of the Class Action Device on Substantive Law." 58 F.R.D. 307, 308 (1993).

The use of a single action to adjudicate many small, individual claims (probably not worth pursuing individually) as a unitary claim is not new or revolutionary. That beneficial theory was recognized as having judicial and public value long ago.<sup>5</sup>

The economy of judicial labor and resources is a natural consequence of the class action device. Those benefits have met with favor and hospitality by our courts. Those same benefits to the judicial system would be lost under the Fourth District Court's decision under review. No single class member seeks or will obtain a separate or individual judgment from the court. Rather, here will be only a single judgment for the total overcharge to the class.<sup>6</sup> The class members are then compensated through well established class claims administrative procedures in which the defendant has no interest. A common fund is created and claims are made against it through a fund administrator (commonly one of the major national accounting firms).

The instant class, as that in all consumer class actions, is comprised of individuals. They each have a viable claim as a victim of overcharging against the defendant hospital for pharmaceuticals, supplies and laboratory tests. Typical of

It is not rhetorical to ask how a county judge could enter a multimillion dollar judgment.

b-johnsn\plantatn\pleading\merits.brf

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Joseph Story, "Commentaries on Equity Pleading" (2d ed. Boston 1839). The Supreme Court later recognized the same in Equity Rule 48, 42 U.S.1 (1 How) (1843).

consumer classes, the individual class member's claim is well below the jurisdictional threshold of the Circuit Court. Also, typical of consumer class actions, the aggregated sum of the class of many thousands of patients greatly exceeds the threshold barrier by several million dollars.

The lower tribunal, in a 2-1 decision (Judge Stone dissenting) stated what it believed to be the governing case law: that individual class member's claims, even though arising from the same business relationship with and course of business conduct by the defendant, may not be considered as a unitary claim by the class.

The Fourth District Court decision contradicts and disregards this Court's governing authority and precedent and constitutes a departure from an essential requirement of law. The District Court's jurisdictional decision casts the cause of hundreds of thousands of class members seeking monetary damages and recovery of tens of millions of dollars in this and other actions into the several county courts which do not have the jurisdictional authority to render judgment in the multi-million dollar amounts claimed by the respective classes.

Separate and apart from the Fourth District's decision being contrary to this Court's governing authority, on December 3, 1993, the Court of Appeal for the Fifth District expressly acknowledged the decision here under review and rendered a decision and issued an opinion directly opposite in philosophy and result. *Galen of* 

Florida, Inc., d/b/a Humana Hospital Daytona Beach v. Arscott, et al., 5th DCA #93-79.

#### ARGUMENT

## I. IT IS APPROPRIATE TO CONSIDER THE CLAIM OF THE CLASS RATHER THAN THE INDIVIDUAL CLASS MEMBER TO DETERMINE JURISDICTION OF THE COURT.

The entire issue of the "amount in controversy" has been misperceived by the Fourth District in the decision under review. The Fourth District Court improperly frames an inquiry that preordains the conclusion. It reasons:

Major

premise - Claims for less in than \$15,000 must be heard in County Court.

Minor

premise - Each class members material to this action has a claim for less than \$15,000

Conclusion - Therefore, all such claims must be heard by the county court.

The appeal of such "perfect" Aristotelian logic is emotionally compelling *but wrong*! While this might bring joy to the heart of a student of freshman logic, it fails in this instance because it is simply inapplicable to the legal, not "logic" issues important to a correct statement of the law.

The reason is as elementary as it is fundamental: the claim to be adjudicated is that of the *class*: the 50,000 patients who have been victimized by the hospital's scheme to impose unlawful overcharges. The claim is not that of any single person. It is the patient class whose standing is asserted. The representative

Plaintiffs are just that, "representatives" of the patient class. Thus, if the answers to critical questions of law are to be found in Logic 101, the proper framing of the inquiry is essential. The proper reasoning is: Major premise - Circuit Court jurisdiction begins at \$15,000 Minor premise - The class is the claimant in this case and alleges a claim in excess of \$10 million Conclusion -Therefore, Circuit Court is the appropriate court for jurisdiction. The District Court's misdirection of focus on the question to be addressed led inexorably to the erroneous conclusion stated in the decision being reviewed.

> "we construe the pleadings to mean that none of the class representatives has a claim within the jurisdictional minimum of the Circuit Court. 621 So.2d at 552

A summary of the correct rule and one which this Court is urged to announce as the standard in Florida is stated by the Fifth District Court of Appeal in its opinion of December 3, 1993 in a parallel case:

> We recognize the opinion of the Fourth District Court of Appeal in [the instant case]. ... Unlike the Fourth District Court, we agree with courts of other states that have concluded that individual claims filed class in action а are aggregated to determine jurisdiction. Slip Opinion at p.2, Galen of Florida, Inc., d/b/a Humana Hospital Daytona Beach v. Arscott, et al., 5th DCA #93-79.

The opinion of the Fourth District Court, while making reference to Section 34.01(1)3, Florida Statutes (1993) that establishes jurisdictional threshold amounts for County and Circuit Court, is an obvious parallel to the practice of federal courts which disallows aggregation of class claims in *diversity* jurisdiction cases. In an attempt to clarify the confusion generated by a cursory, non-analytical reading of federal case law rejecting aggregation of class claims (or reading only the headnotes), the Petitioners hope to assist the Court in its undertaking to announce a clear and correct rule in this and similar cases.

The leading federal case rejecting class claim aggregation is Zahn v. International Paper Co., 414 U.S. 291, 95 S. Ct. 505 (1973). However, legal analysis of State ex rel. City of West Palm Beach v. Chillingworth, 100 Fla. 489, 129 So. 816 (1930), and Frankel v. City of Miami Beach, 340 So. 2d 463, 466 (1976), on remand 341 So.2d 1076 (Fla. 3d DCA 1977)<sup>7</sup> shows that it is proper to aggregate the claims of individual class members to determine the amount in controversy in the present case.

In Zahn, the United States Supreme Court held that, in a federal class action suit <u>based on diversity</u> of citizenship, each class member must satisfy the jurisdictional amount and that their claims may not be aggregated to meet the jurisdictional require-

7

Citation continued: Partially overruling on other grounds, *Curtis Pub. Co. v. Bader*, 266 So.2d 78 (Fla. 3d DCA), cert. denied, 271 So.2d 142 (Fla. 1972)

ment. Zahn, 414 U.S. at 301. In arriving at this conclusion, the Court was governed by the historical construction of the "matter in controversy" component of 28 U.S.C.S. § 1332(a) (Law. Co-op. 1986 & Supp. 1993), which sets forth the requirements for federal court <u>diversity</u> jurisdiction. Zahn, 414 U.S. at 292-94. In the opinion, the U.S. Supreme Court reviewed a long line of cases that had restrictively construed the statutes defining federal court jurisdiction. This historic construction of the federal jurisdictional statutes compelled the Court's conclusion that individual claims based upon <u>diversity</u> may not be aggregated for jurisdictional purposes.

The underlying premise there is that the federal district courts are courts of limited jurisdiction. In diversity cases, Congress sought to control the caseload of the federal courts and leave to state courts of general jurisdiction those cases falling outside of the limited Congressional criteria. The conclusion is therefore obvious: if an action sought to be brought *under diversity* in federal court does not meet the criteria, it must a *fortiori* be heard in a state court of general jurisdiction empowered to enter appropriate relief.

The unique nature of diversity jurisdiction in the federal system goes back to its origins and "Blackletter-Hornbook" law that there is no federal general common law. Unless an action is brought under a federal statutory or constitutional provision and thus states a federal question, the judicial systems of the several

b-johnsn\plantatn\pleading\merits.brf

states are the appropriate forum. The federal courts do not entertain common law or common count jurisdiction, with two significant and important exceptions. The first is the concept of pendent jurisdiction, *i.e.*, the acceptance of state law or common law claims (that would be otherwise heard in state courts) if they are pendent to <u>and</u> arise out of the same facts as the primary claim based on established federal jurisdiction. The second is the concept of diversity jurisdiction, which Congress told the federal courts to exercise based upon the anxiety of non-resident, largescale litigants being subjected to the "hometown" effect in contested issues of what would otherwise be purely state matters.

The key to understanding this structure is the recognition that in cases based on a federal question (antitrust, EEOC, civil rights, labor law, environmental regulation, interstate commerce) there is <u>no</u> floor or threshold jurisdictional amount whatever that a class action litigant must satisfy in order to obtain relief in the federal courts. Thus, purchasers of publicly traded stock (the sale of which is regulated by federal law) may properly claim federal court class jurisdiction in a "fraud-on-the-market-case" with nominal damages alone. Similarly, a lone woman, claiming price-fixing damages of less than \$10.00, can represent thousands of hearing aid purchasers in a class action antitrust case in federal court. *Reiter v. Sonotone Corp.*, 442 U.S. 330 (1979).

That is clearly an apt analogy for cases arising solely under state or common law, and the only sensible answer to the so-called

"aggregation" issue in the instant case. When federal questions are raised, there is no dollar minimum for federal courts to consider. The same would be true of the common law causes of action raised in this cause (under the common law of Florida) for the class of thousands of hospital patients who seek a single judgment in excess of \$10 million. Such a scenario is precisely the reason why class actions are viewed as a salutary and favored judicial vehicle for efficient adjudication.

State courts have a different jurisdictional genesis and criteria than federal courts, and are not bound by the Congressional intent that prevents aggregation of claims presented to federal courts on a diversity theory.<sup>8</sup> This is because state courts are courts of general jurisdiction, while federal court jurisdiction is limited. As stated by the U.S. Supreme Court:

<sup>8</sup> Newberg on Class Actions states that in addition to the inapplicability of Zahn because of the federal diversity issue, Zahn has been overruled by statute. In 1990, Congress enacted § 1367 of the Judicial Code. See 28 U.S.C. § 1367. The effect of this new enactment is to overrule Zahn and permit the exercise of supplemental jurisdiction over the claims of class members who do not meet the diversity statute's jurisdictional minimum. Therefore, any jurisdictional argument based on the authority of Zahn is now emasculated. This illustrates why Florida should not rely on federal jurisdictional precedents and why Florida should instead recognize that its jurisdictional decisions are independent of federal decisions. At least one United States District Judge disagrees with the Newberg treatise: Averdick v. Republic Financial Services, Inc., 803 F. Supp 37 (E.D. However, that disagreement is only of Ky. 1992). academic interest here since the gravamen of the instant argument of this class is that the federal diversity standard is non sequitur a position with which the Fifth District Court agrees. (Merits Br. App. Tab 1)

certain basic principles ... limit the power of every federal court. Federal courts are not courts of general jurisdiction; they have only the power that is authorized by Article III of the Constitution and the statutes enacted by Congress pursuant thereto.

Bender v. Williamsport Area School District, 475 U.S. 534, 541, 106 S. Ct. 1326, (1986).

In City of West Palm Beach v. Chillingworth, 100 Fla. at 489, 129 So. at 816, (1930) the Florida Supreme Court addressed a question similar to that raised in Zahn and rejected the standards used by federal courts for the purpose of determining federal diversity jurisdiction. The Florida Supreme Court rejected such a restrictive view and confirmed that Florida allows aggregation of individual claims that "are in some way related to each other." Chillingworth, 129 So. at 817.

In Chillingworth, this Court addressed the question of whether individual claims could be aggregated so as to bring the amount involved within the jurisdiction of the Circuit Court. The Supreme Court held that aggregation of the individual claims was proper because the individual demands were affected by a common right, were related, or had arisen out of the same circumstance.

In considering the rule adopted in some states that "jurisdiction is fixed by the amount of each separate demand," This Court cited an Arkansas case that represented this view, and said:

> This court is, however, committed to the rule that, if the demands from their nature or character are joint or composite, or are in some way related to each other or arise out of the same

b-johnsn\plantatn\pleading\merits.brf

transaction, *circumstance*, or occurrence, they may be aggregated to confer jurisdiction. *Id*. (emphasis added).

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