CASE NO. 82,237

BRUCE A. JOHNSON, MARTHA RICH, ALFRED SCHEMPP and JUDITH OSIT, for Themselves and All Others Similarly Situated,

Petitioners,

VS.

PLANTATION GENERAL HOSPITAL LIMITED PARTNERSHIP.

Respondents,

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Kevin J. Murray
Deborah A. Sampieri
Paul C. Huck
Kenny Nachwalter Seymour Arnold
Critchlow & Spector, P.A.
1100 Miami Center
201 South Biscayne Boulevard
Miami, Florida 33131-4327
Telephone: (305) 373-1000

Attorneys for Respondents

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

Plantation General Hospital Ltd. v. Johnson, 621 So.2d at 553 n.5.

Florida operates under a two-tier trial court system. The initial tier is the county court.

The circuit court forms the second tier. The establishment of both the county courts and circuit courts is prescribed in the Florida Constitution:

The judicial power shall be vested in a supreme court, district court of appeal, circuit courts and county courts. (Emphasis supplied.)

Art. V § 1 Florida Constitution. The specific jurisdiction of the circuit courts and the county courts, however, is defined by statute. Section 5 of Article 5 of the Florida Constitution provides that "the circuit courts shall have original jurisdiction not vested in the county courts." See In re Guardianship of Bentley, 342 So.2d 1045, 1046 (Fla. 4th DCA 1977) ("The circuit court has jurisdiction as prescribed by the constitution and general law."). Section 6 of Article V of the Florida Constitution, on the other hand, states that "the county courts shall exercise the jurisdiction prescribed by general law."

The circuit court's jurisdiction is established by Section 26.012(2)(a), Fla. Stat., which provides that the ircuit court has original jurisdiction over legal actions in which the county court lacks jurisdiction. By the express language of the statute, jurisdiction of the county court and of the circuit court are not overlapping. See id. They are mutually exclusive. See, e.g., Winn-Dixie Stores, Inc. v. Ferris, 408 So.2d 650, 652 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981) ("The circuit courts of Florida do not have jurisdiction to enforce municipal or county ordinances."); Christopher v. State, 397 So.2d 406 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981) ("A misdemeanor not arising out of the same circumstances as a felony which is also charged is cognizable only in county court . . . the circuit court does not have jurisdiction and thus any judgment or sentence rendered by it is void."); Occidental Life Ins. Co. v. Hernandez, 377 So.2d 808 (Fla. 3d DCA

1979) (action on insurance policy where policy limit below jurisdictional minimum not within jurisdiction of circuit court); Festa v. Britton, 372 So.2d 1168 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979) (petition for rule nisi seeking judgment requiring payment of mediation fee was in essence a complaint for damages in amount of \$100 and thus the circuit court lacked jurisdiction to hear the matter). There is **no** circumstance in which a single case may be brought in either county court or circuit court. Jurisdictional limitations established by the Florida Constitution and general laws enacted by the legislature rightly prohibit such forum shopping by Plaintiffs.

2. The Expanded Jurisdiction of the County Courts

In 1990 the Florida Legislature substantially revised Section 34.01, Fla. Stat., to significantly expand the jurisdiction of the county courts. Specifically, it tripled the amount in controversy requirement which marks the jurisdictional line between the county and circuit courts. Furthermore, the legislature vested in the county courts of this state full equity jurisdiction in matters within its jurisdictional limit.⁴

Since July 1, 1992, the county court has "original jurisdiction" over all "actions at law in which the matter in controversy does not exceed the sum of \$15,000, exclusive of interest, costs, and attorney's fees, except those within the exclusive jurisdiction of the circuit courts." § 34.01(1)(c)(4). For causes of action accruing between July 1, 1980 and July 1, 1990 (i.e., for Plaintiffs Johnson and Rich), the amount in controversy had to exceed \$5,000, exclusive of interest, costs and fees before the circuit court acquired jurisdiction. See Fla. Stat. §

⁴Previously, county courts only had equity jurisdiction to hear "equitable defenses in a case properly before [it]." Under the newly enacted subsection 34.01(4), county courts are empowered to "hear all matters in equity involved in any case within the jurisdictional amount of the county court, except as otherwise restricted by the State Constitution or the laws of Florida." Through this amendment the county courts were also granted jurisdiction to hear uncontested divorces.

34.01(1)(c)(2). For those accruing after July 1, 1990, but before July 1, 1992 (i.e., for Plaintiffs Osit and Schempp), the amount in controversy had to exceed \$10,000, also exclusive of interest, costs and fees before the matter left the exclusive jurisdiction of the county courts. See Fla. Stat. § 34.01(1)(c)(3). Plaintiffs do not contend that their individual claims are within the jurisdiction of the circuit court.

The expansion of the county court's jurisdiction by the Florida legislature can only be viewed as a vote of confidence that the county courts are competent to handle civil matters more complex than simple small claims. Significantly, in making these expansive changes the legislature imposed no restriction on the county court's ability to adjudicate class actions.

The Florida legislature could have granted circuit courts exclusive jurisdiction over class actions, but it did not do so. Clearly, there is no statutory bar to maintaining a class action in county court. By the same token, there is nothing in the Florida Rules of Civil Procedure which would indicate that the rule governing class actions, Fla.R.Civ.P. 1.220, does not apply with equal force in county court.⁵ Rule 1.010, the initial rule of the Florida Rules of Civil Procedure, sets forth the scope of the rules and provides:

These rules apply to all actions of a civil nature and all special statutory proceedings in the circuit courts **and county courts** except those to which the probate and guardianship rules or the summary claims procedure rules apply. (emphasis supplied).

⁵The fact that there is no statute which expressly grants the circuit courts exclusive jurisdiction over class actions is highly significant. In *Davies v. Columbia Gas & Elec. Corp.*, 151 Ohio St. 417, 86 N.E.2d 603 (1949), the Supreme Court of Ohio rejected aggregation of claims in class actions. "[I]n an action of this type, where the damages recoverable would be ascertainable by combining the individual losses of those comprising the "class," the total claims of the "class" may not be aggregated to supply the necessary jurisdictional amount." *Id.* at 607. Aggregation was later expressly permitted by rule. See Rule 23(F) of the Ohio Rules of Civil Procedure. This is not appropriate under the constitutional and statutory provisions in Florida.

Since this class action is civil in nature and is not governed by the separate and specialized rules applicable to guardianship, probate or summary claims proceedings, the parties and the trial court in this case will be governed by exactly the same rules and procedures in county court as they would be in circuit court.

B. The Claims of the Plaintiffs and Various Class Members Do Not Arise Out of the Same Transaction Circumstances or Occurrences and Are Not Consequent Upon a Continuous Course of Dealing

The Plaintiffs' claims here are the result of entirely separate transactions occurring at different points in time. It is not alleged, nor can it be, given the nature of the claims, that any of Plaintiffs' claims arose out of the same transaction, circumstances or occurrence. The class which the named Plaintiffs seek to represent consists of all the paying patients who visited Plantation General for treatment over a five year period.⁶ The class is not restricted

all persons who have been admitted as in-patients and discharged at the Defendant hospital, or treated as out-patients, during the applicable statute of limitations period (five years next preceding the filing of this Complaint) and who have signed agreements as in Paragraph 5 and who have been presented upon discharge containing unreasonable. with a bill unconscionable and excessive overcharges for items of medical supplies, laboratory services and pharmaceuticals incident to each such patient's treatment or hospitalization, where the charges for such medical supplies, laboratory services and pharmaceuticals were based upon any standard schedule or price list which was, from time to time, used for the purpose of charging or billing twenty-five or more persons therefor; and who have either paid or caused to be paid in full or in part the amount set forth on their bills, or who have not paid or caused to be paid the amount set forth on their bills in part or in full and are alleged by the Defendant to be obligated to pay some or all of the outstanding balance of their bills.

Civil Action Complaint at ¶ 17.

⁶Plaintiffs seek to represent, with certain stated exclusions:

to patients who went to the hospital for any particular type of treatment or who suffered from any specific type of malady. Quite to the contrary, the putative class is all-encompassing and seeks to include everyone--from the person who needed a few stitches to close up a cut, to the individual who needed a broken bone set, to the person who had x-rays taken as a precautionary measure, to the person who spent several days in intensive care. The sole common link is that they received some form (but **not** a common form) of medical services at Plantation General. The interests of each class member are completely independent of the interests of the other named plaintiffs and are independent of the other alleged members of the class as well. Notwithstanding the lack of common ailments, treatments or time of admission, Plaintiffs seek to aggregate their various and diverse claims to meet the jurisdictional minimum of circuit court.⁷

The ability to aggregate claims to meet a jurisdictional threshold is, however, quite limited. Florida law only recognizes two circumstances under which claims may be aggregated (neither of which applies here): (1) where a single plaintiff seeks to aggregate two or more of his own claims against a single defendant, and at least one of the distinct claims exceeds the jurisdictional threshold, see Milhet Caterers, Inc. v. North Western Meat, Inc., 185 So.2d 196 (Fla. 3d DCA 1966); or (2) where two or more plaintiffs have a right that is composite and arises out of the same transaction. See State ex rel. City of West Palm Beach v. Chillingworth, 129 So. 816 (Fla. 1930). Florida does not permit aggregation where there are multiple plaintiffs and each plaintiff is suing on a separate transaction.

⁷Plaintiffs seem to argue that the putative class is itself a Plaintiff with independent rights to sue. This argument treats the putative class as if it were a corporation or other entity. There is simply no legal basis to treat the putative class as an entity as a claimant for jurisdiction purposes. Class actions are representative, procedural devices, not legally independent entities.

The Fourth District below framed the pivotal aggregation issue as follows: "[W]hether the plaintiffs can stack claims to meet the [jurisdictional] minimum [of the circuit court]". 621 So.2d at 552. To answer that question the analysis turns on an examination of the various claims of the named plaintiffs and putative class members. The only connection that the Fourth District could discern, and indeed the only connection that exists, is that Plaintiffs contend that they and the putative class members were each treated and somehow overcharged by Plantation General.

Plaintiffs do not contend that they were overcharged for the same treatment, procedure or medication, or that their treatment arose out of a common injury. The occurrences which brought each of the Plaintiffs to Plantation General are not alleged to be common or identical. And the only temporal relationship among the Plaintiffs is that they were all treated within the time period prior to the filing of this lawsuit which is not barred by the statute of limitations. Transactional commonality simply does not exist. Furthermore, there is no allegation that any of the Plaintiffs were in any way affiliated with one another. Thus, there was no course of dealing between Plaintiffs and Plantation General.

In holding that the Plaintiffs' claims as well as the claims of the putative class were not "the kind of joint claim of right . . . that allows stacking of individual claims for jurisdictional purposes," id. at 552, the Fourth District relied on this court's decision in *State ex rel. City of West Palm Beach v. Chillingworth*, 100 Fla. 489, 129 So. 816 (1930), and *Burkhart v. Gowin*, 86 Fla. 376, 98 So. 140 (1923).

In *Chillingworth*, plaintiffs each owned one or more bonds issued in a series with identical obligations. When interest was not paid, all joined together to enforce the same obligation. This Court held that aggregation was appropriate under these circumstances:

[I]f the demands from their nature or character are joint or composite or are in some way related to each other or arise out of the same transaction, circumstances or occurrence, they may be aggregated to confer jurisdiction.

Id. at 817. This Court, however, went on to state that aggregation is not appropriate

where the claims are substantive and are not in their nature joint or composite and do not arise out of the same transaction, circumstances, or occurrences, and are not consequent upon a continuous course of dealing as evidenced by an open account or a continuing contract, and are in no way related, but represent distinct and wholly independent demands, they cannot be aggregated to confer jurisdiction.

Id. at 818. (emphasis supplied). The Court in *Chillingworth* placed significant reliance on the fact that all of the bonds being sued upon were issued "at the same time" for the purpose of securing a common loan. *Id.* (emphasis supplied).

Unlike in *Chillingworth* where plaintiffs were suing to collect a fixed sum which they alleged the defendant owed on an entire bond series, the claims of the Plaintiffs (and putative class members) in this case arise out of "separate and isolated transactions between one party and several other parties unrelated to one another and not jointly participating in the transactions with the other." 621 So.2d at 552-53.

In *Burkhart v. Gowin*, 86 Fla. 376, 98 So. 140 (1923), this Court pointed out that transactional identity is clearly required before aggregation of claims will be permitted. In holding that the plaintiff could not aggregate three (3) promissory notes in the amounts of \$250.00, \$253.33, and \$100.00 from the same maker to meet the then \$500.00 jurisdictional limit of the circuit court, this Court offered the following guidelines:

For example: Successive obligations to pay rent or other items growing out of a contract or lease of land and open accounts containing many small items, or claims for several head of live stock killed in the same railroad accident, may be aggregated to give jurisdiction without violating the organic provisions as to

jurisdictional amounts. But separate, unrelated, distinct, and wholly independent demands, as promissory notes given for wholly unrelated and separate items of indebtedness, as is apparently the case in this action, where there is nothing in the notes or in the pleadings to show a composite or other relation between the notes that were given at different times, or where live stock are killed at different times, such demands, being separate and unrelated and within the jurisdiction of a lower court, may not be joined or aggregated to make up the amount to give jurisdiction to a superior court. (emphasis supplied).

98 So. at 142. If a person who received several promissory notes from the same individual at different points in time cannot aggregate claims on these notes for jurisdictional purposes, then patients who received different forms of treatment at a hospital at different points in time with otherwise no connection whatsoever to each other would seem to have even less justification to aggregate their claims. In *Burkhart*, this Court made it clear that more than a similar cause of action against a common defendant was necessary to sustain aggregation. The Plaintiffs here have nothing more.

Even where there is but one claimant, and the basis for several claims being asserted by that claimant occurred at different points in time and were not part of the same transaction, the similar but separate claims cannot be aggregated to meet the jurisdictional limit of the circuit court. This Court made this principle quite clear in *Director Gen. of Railroads v. Wilford*, 81 Fla. 430, 88 So. 256 (1921). In *Wilford* a farmer who had four cows killed by trains operated by the same railroad, but at different points in time, sought to aggregate the total damages to meet the then \$100.00 minimum jurisdictional amount necessary to invoke the jurisdiction of the circuit court. No single cow, however, was worth more than \$65.00. On appeal, this Court reversed the favorable judgment obtained by the farmer at the trial court holding that the circuit court lacked jurisdiction to enter such a judgment. The *Wilford* Court explained its holding thusly:

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